
          

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 

CITY OF NORTH PORT 
SARASOTA COUNTY 

SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 
DECEMBER 15, 2022 

11:00 A.M. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.westvillagesid.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 
AGENDA 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
Public Safety Building Training Room 

19955 Preto Blvd., Venice, Florida 34293 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING 

December 15, 2022 
11:00 a.m. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………................................Page 1 

C. Seat New Board Member 

D. Administer Oath of Office & Review Board Member Responsibilities and Duties 

E. Establish Quorum 

F. Election of Officers 

 Chairman 
 Vice Chairman 
 Secretary/Treasurer 
 Assistant Secretaries 

G. Additions or Deletions 

H. Comments from the Public on All Agenda Items 

I. Approval of Minutes 

1. November 10, 2022 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes…………………………………Page 2 

J. General District Matters 

K. Unit of Development 1 

1. Consider Ratification of GMC FEMA Consulting Services Agreement…………………………………Page 10 

2. Consider Approval of Agreement between the District and Wellen Park, LLLP for Infrastructure 
Management, Operation, and Maintenance……………………………………………………………….Page 29 

L. Unit of Development 8 

1. Consider Approval of Second Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report………………..Page 46 

2. Consider Approval of Supplemental Engineer’s Report…………………………………………………Page 65 

3. Consider Resolution 2022-31 – Adopting Supplemental Assessment Resolution……………………….Page 73 

M. Administrative Matters 

1. District Engineer 

2. District Attorney 

3. District Operations Manager 

4. District Manager 

N. Board Member Comments 

O. Adjourn 

 



Public Notices 

12/06/2022 

Share 

Print 

�
NOTICE OF SPECIAL BOARD MEETING WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT Notice is hereby given that the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the West 
Villages Improvement District (“District”) will hold a Special Board Meeting (Meeting”) 
of the Board on December 15, 2022, at 11:00 A.M. in person in the Training Room of 
the Public Safety Building located at 19955 Preto Boulevard, Venice, Florida 34293. 
The purpose of the Meeting is to address any items that may come before the Board. 
The meeting is open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of Florida law for improvement districts. A copy of the agenda for this 
Meeting may be obtained by contacting the District Manager by email at 
wcrosley@sdsinc.org, by telephone at 941-244-2805, or by visiting the District’s 
website, westvillagesid.org. This Meeting may be continued to a date, time, and place 
to be specified on the record at the meeting. Pursuant to the provisions of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations to 
participate in this Meeting is asked to advise the District Office at least forty-eight (48) 
hours prior to the Meeting by contacting the District Manager at 941-244-2805. If you 
are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-
1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY)/1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District 
Manager. Each person who decides to appeal any action taken at this Meeting is 
advised that person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the 
person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 
including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. William 
Crosley, District Manager West Villages Improvement District 
 

Page 1



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PUBLIC HEARING & REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

NOVEMBER 10, 2022 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The November 10, 2022, Regular Board Meeting of the West Villages Improvement District 
(“WVID” or the “District”) was called to order at 11:10 a.m. in the Public Safety Building Training 
Room located at 19955 Preto Boulevard, Venice, Florida 34293. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Regular Board Meeting had 
been published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on November 1, 2022, as legally required. 
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum, and it 
was in order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
Chairman John Luczynski Present via Zoom 
Vice Chairman Steve Lewis Present in person 
Supervisor Tom Buckley Present in person 
Supervisor Christine Masney Present in person 
Vacant   

 
Staff members in attendance were: 
 
District Manager Todd Wodraska Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Michelle Krizen Special District Services, Inc. 
Finance Michael McElligott Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Lindsay Whelan  Kutak Rock LLP 
District Engineer Richard Ellis  Dewberry 

 
Also present were the following: 
 
Peter L. Dame- Akerman LLP, Erika Klevers- Goodwyn Mills and Cawood, Bill Conerly- Kimley 
Horn, Craig Garrett, Lex Van Brero, Ann McGinnis Messina, John Meisel, John Coughlin, Mike 
Milak, Victor Dobrin and Seamus McCaffery. 
 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

Page 2



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

Ms. Messina of the Renaissance community noted her concerns regarding the trees behind her 
home after Hurricane Ian and the fact that they could fall onto her home.  Operations’ Manager 
Mike Smith advised that he had an arborist look at the tree and the preliminary field inspection 
was deemed to not be compromised, even after wind speeds in excess of 115 mph from Hurricane 
Ian.  The final report is currently pending.  
 
Mr. McCaffery noted that the preserve behind his home in IslandWalk had turned into a swamp 
and had increased wild hog and fire ant activity.  In addition, he believes it poses a security issue 
for wildlife and pedestrian traffic. It was suggested that the HOA be consulted regarding the 
security in IslandWalk via the preserve regarding access to IslandWalk property.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that he was looking forward to joining the District Board and requested a copy 
of the City of North Port’s approval for the purchase of the legacy school site from 2016.  Mr. 
Meisel also thanked Victor Dobrin for his service to the District Board for the past 4 years.  
   
Mr. Dobrin advised that he was interested in pursuing any future resident seats on the District 
Board, as they become available.  Mr. Dobrin also stated that he had reviewed information on the 
District website regarding irrigation matters in Gran Paradiso and felt that the information was 
being presented in a biased way.  Mr. Dobrin asked that the District take a look at the invoices 
Gran Paradiso HOA received from BrightView Landscape Services related to hurricane cleanup 
that occurred on District property.  There was a lengthy discussion regarding hurricane expenses 
and possible Federal Emergency Management Administration (“FEMA”) claims for reimbursable 
items and irrigation well availability fees.  
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1.  August 18, 2022, Public Hearing & Regular Board Meeting 
 
The minutes of the August 18, 2022, Public Hearing & Regular Board Meeting were presented for 
consideration. 
 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Masney, seconded by Mr. Luczynski approving the minutes of the 
August 18, 2022, Public Hearing & Regular Board Meeting, as presented. 
 
G. GENERAL DISTRICT MATTERS 
 
 1.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-27 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2021/2022 Amended 
Budget 
 
Resolution No. 2022-27 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-27 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
ADOPTING AN AMENDED FISCAL YEAR 2021/2022 BUDGET. 

 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney adopting Resolution No. 2022-
27, as presented, reflecting total revenues of $17,649,944 and expenses of $4,294,724.  Upon being 
put to a vote, the MOTION carried 3 to 0 because Mr. Luczynski’s Zoom audio was not working 
at the time of voting. 

Page 3



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 
 2.  Consider Ratification of Dewberry Work Authorization for Emergency FEMA 
Consulting Services 
 
Mr. Ellis presented the work authorization for emergency FEMA consulting on damages occurred 
during Hurricane Ian.  Proposed tasks and corresponding fees are: Task 1 Field Inspections not to 
exceed $30,000; Task 2 Consulting Coordination/Project Meetings not to exceed $5,000; Task 3 
Other Direct Costs not to exceed $3,000; and Task 4 Additional Services per the fee schedule of 
charges.  
 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Masney, seconded by Mr. Buckley ratifying the work authorization 
for emergency FEMA consulting on damages occurred during Hurricane Ian, as follows: Task 1 
Field Inspections not to exceed $30,000; Task 2 Consulting Coordination/Project Meetings not to 
exceed $5,000; Task 3 Other Direct Costs not to exceed $3,000; and Task 4 Additional Services 
per the fee schedule of charges.  Upon being put to a vote, the MOTION carried 3 to 0 because 
Mr. Luczynski’s Zoom audio was not working at the time of voting. 
 
After the vote, there was further discussion regarding inspections, hurricane damages and the 
assistance process. 
 
 3.  Review Proposals for FEMA Consulting Services 
 
The District solicited bids through a Request for Proposals from contractors interested in providing 
disaster project management and grant management consulting services related to the Federal 
Emergency Management Administration (“FEMA”) Public Assistance Program related to 
Hurricane Ian (the “Project”).  The only proposal received was from Goodwin Mills Cawood.  
Erica Klevers, who was present for the meeting via Zoom, summarized her experience providing 
applicant services for 16 years regarding FEMA claims.  One FEMA requirement is that all 
consulting services contracts must contain a “not to exceed” included in the contract which staff 
assured the Board would be included in any FEMA Consulting Services agreement.  The deadline 
to submit for public assistance is November 2, 2022.  
 
 4.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-28 – Awarding Contract for FEMA Consulting 
Services 
 
Resolution No. 2022-28 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-28 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
REGARDING THE AWARD OF A DISASTER PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT AND GRANT MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTING SERVICES CONTRACT; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
approving the award of the contract for FEMA Consulting Services to Goodwin Mills Cawood 

Page 4



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

and further authorizes the Chairman to negotiate a not to exceed amount with the approved 
contractors. 
The Regular Board Meeting was then recessed and the Public Hearing on the Revised Assessment 
Report of Benefits was opened. 
 
H. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1 
 
 1.  Public Hearing – Revised Assessment Report of Benefits 
  
  a. Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Public Hearing had been 
published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on October 4, 2022, and October 11, 2022, as legally 
required. 
 
  b. Receive Public Comment on Regarding Revised Assessment Report of Benefits 
 
There was no public comment regarding the Revised Assessment Report of Benefits 
 
  c. Consider Resolution No. 2022-29 – Adopting a Revised Assessment Report of 
Benefits 
 
Resolution No. 2022-29 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-29 
 

[UNIT NO. 1 2022 BOUNDARY AMENDMENT] 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
ADOPTING THE REVISED PLAN OF IMPROVEMENTS 
FOR UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1 RELATIVE TO THE 
AMENDMENT OF THE BOUNDARY OF SUCH UNIT; 
ADOPTING THE REVISED ASSESSMENT REPORT OF 
BENEFITS RELATIVE TO THE AMENDMENT OF THE 
BOUNDARY OF SUCH UNIT; APPROVING THE BENEFIT 
CALCULATION FOR THE DISTRICT’S SERIES 2017 
BONDS; PROVIDING FOR THE RECISSION OF PRIOR 
DEBT ASSESSMENT RESOLUTIONS AND THE 
REALLOCATION OF DEBT ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
It was explained that adopting the Revised Assessment Report of Benefits was the final step in 
approving the amendment to the financing reports due to the Unit 1 boundary amendment that is 
a result of the legislative boundary amendment that occurred earlier in 2022.  The reports included 
as exhibits in this resolution are identical to the ones approved by the Board in August, updating 
the assessment report of benefits to revise the acreage that was added as the result of the legislative 
boundary amendment, which will result in a slight decrease in assessments to Unit 1.  
 

Page 5



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. .Masney and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-29, as presented. 
The Public Hearing was then closed and the Regular Board Meeting was reconvened. 
 
 2.  Consider Amendment to BrightView Agreement Relative to Contract Extension 
 
The District and BrightView entered into an agreement for Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance 
Services on September 27, 2021. That contract can be amended and may also be renewed for four 
(4) additional one (1) year terms.  This amendment is for the addition of landscape and irrigation 
services for areas set forth in the map exhibits for the additional amount of $240,078. 
 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Masney, seconded by Mr. Buckley and passed unanimously 
approving the Amendment to the BrightView Agreement, as presented. 
 
I. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 6 
 
 1.  Consider Ratification of Work Authorization No. 3 – Amendment 2 – Regulatory 
Assistance Services for Reuse Distribution System FDEP Permit 
 
It was explained that the purpose of this work authorization with Kimley Horn and Associates, 
Inc. was to extend the work authorization in one-year increments, commencing October 1, 2022, 
for fees not to exceed $100,000 annually for regulatory assistance services related to the reuse 
distribution system Florida Department of Environmental Services Permit No. FLAB07114.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
ratifying Work Authorization No. 3 – Amendment 2 – Regulatory Assistance Services for Reuse 
Distribution System FDEP Permit No. FLAB07114, as presented. 
 
J. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 8 
 

1. Consider Preliminary Supplemental Engineer’s Report 
 
It was explained that this report was consistent with the Master Report relative to the first bond 
issuance for Unit 8 and a supplement to that Master Report. 
 
Bill Conerly from Kimley Horn presented the Supplemental Engineer’s Report.  Mr. Conerly 
confirmed that the costs reflected in the report were reasonable for the scope of the project.  There 
were no questions from Board Members.   
 
A MOTION was made by Ms. Masney, seconded by Mr. Buckley and passed unanimously 
approving the Preliminary Supplemental Engineer’s Report, as presented. 
 
 2.  Consider Preliminary Supplemental Assessment Report 
 
It was explained that this report was consistent with the Master Report relative to the first bond 
issuance for Unit 8 and a supplement to that Master Report.  Mr. Karmeris presented the 
Supplemental Assessment Report and confirmed that the costs reflected in the report were fairly 
and reasonable allocated, as shown in the Engineer’s Report to the lands within Unit 8.  There 
were no questions from Board Members. 

Page 6



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 
Ms. Whelan thanked both Andrew Karmeris and Todd Wodraska for calling in to the meeting as, 
they were dealing with a hurricane at the time of this meeting.    
  
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2022-30 – Delegated Award Resolution 
 
Resolution No. 2022-30 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-30 

A RESOLUTION OF WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
SUPPLEMENTING ITS RESOLUTION 2020-10 BY AUTHORIZING THE 
ISSUANCE OF ITS WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS (UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT 
NO. 8), SERIES 2022 IN A PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT EXCEEDING 
$17,000,000 FOR THE PRINCIPAL PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING AND 
CONSTRUCTING PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR THE SPECIAL 
BENEFIT OF ASSESSABLE LANDS WITHIN UNIT NO. 8 OF WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT; DELEGATING TO THE 
CHAIRMAN OR VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE DISTRICT, SUBJECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS HEREOF, THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD 
THE NEGOTIATED SALE OF SUCH BONDS TO FMSBONDS, INC. BY 
EXECUTING AND DELIVERING TO SUCH UNDERWRITER A BOND 
PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND APPROVING THE FORM THEREOF; 
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 
OF A SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE; APPOINTING 
U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS THE 
TRUSTEE, REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT FOR SUCH BONDS; 
MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS; APPROVING FORM OF SAID BONDS; 
APPROVING THE FORM OF THE PRELIMINARY LIMITED 
OFFERING MEMORANDUM AND AUTHORIZING THE USE BY THE 
UNDERWRITER OF THE PRELIMINARY LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM AND THE LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING AND SALE OF SUCH BONDS 
AND THE EXECUTION OF THE LIMITED OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING 
THE EXECUTION OF A CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT; 
APPROVING THE FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 
AND DELIVERY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY AND BETWEEN THE 
DISTRICT AND THE DEVELOPER(S) REQUIRED TO BE DELIVERED 
IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF SAID BONDS; 
AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OFFICIALS OF WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AND OTHERS TO TAKE ALL ACTIONS 
REQUIRED IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND 
DELIVERY OF SAID BONDS; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER DETAILS 
WITH RESPECT TO SAID BONDS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

Page 7



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Mr. Dame presented the delegated award resolution, which is the next step in order to issue bonds 
up to a maximum amount of $17,000,000 and authorizes the District Chairman to finalize the 
actual terms and provisions of the bonds.     
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously 
adopting Resolution No. 2022-30, as presented. 
 
K. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
  
 1.  District Engineer 
 
Mr. Ellis reported that on September 28, 2022, pursuant to the website NEXRAD, operated by the 
National Weather Service, an agency of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 
FAA, U.S. Air Force and Department of Defense, Hurricane Ian exceeded a 1,000-year storm 
event.  The 24-hour rainfall amount was reported at 19 inches and there were some reports of street 
flooding.  The District has reached out to Universal Engineering Services to evaluate the District-
owned roads within Gran Paradiso because they were submerged for a significant amount of time. 
The District is also working with the IslandWalk community to provide a second outfall area of 
drainage in order to allow for future rainfall events.    
 
 2.  District Attorney 
 
Ms. Whelan reported, based on the uncertified County elections, it appeared that John Meisel won 
the District Board seat and will be installed at the December meeting, once the election has been 
certified. 
 
Ms. Whelan also reported that Unit 9 bonds had been validated and a final judgement had been 
received.  
 
 3.  District Operations’ Manager 
 
Mr. Smith reported that significant storm damage occurred throughout the District as a result of 
Hurricane Ian.  He noted that recovery had begun to correct the significant damage to the street 
lighting and landscape loss due to the high winds.  Recovery will be a lengthy process.  Supervisor 
Masney complimented Mr. Smith for his leadership and the challenges that he and his staff endured 
in the aftermath of the storm.  
 
 4.  District Manager 
 
Mr. Crosley reported that the current District Hydrologist, Dave Kelly of ECT Inc., was 
transitioning his position over to the firm RESPEC Company LLC.  He further noted that staff 
would be presenting an agreement at the next meeting for the Board consideration in order to 
engage Mr. Kelly and RESPEC for those same services. 
 
In addition, the fiscal year 2020/2021 financial audit had been completed and was posted on the 
District’s website. 
 
Mr. Crosley noted that the next meeting was scheduled for December 8, 2022.  
 
L. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 

Page 8



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 
Ms. Masney noted that she wanted to thank the residents in the District for their efforts in cleaning 
up after the storm, which showcased what the spirit of community really was after such an 
unfortunate disaster. 
 
Ms. Masney also requested that the District Engineer evaluate the current conditions at the 
intersection of West Villages Parkway and the main entrance to the Publix shopping center 
because, in her opinion, it is a challenge for vehicles to negotiate when multiple vehicles are 
present.  
 
M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Special Board Meeting was 
adjourned at 12:42 p.m. on a MOTION made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney and 
passed unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



1 
4891-9289-9905.1  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT AND WELLEN PARK, LLLP 

FOR INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 15th day of December, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”), by and between: 
 

West Villages Improvement District, a local unit of special purpose government 
established pursuant to Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, whose address is 2501-A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District”); and 
 
Wellen Park, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited partnership, whose address 
is 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450, Orlando, Florida 32811 (the “Developer”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, the District is a local unit of special-purpose government established, pursuant 
to Chapter 189, Florida Statutes and Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended (collectively, 
the “Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, the District is authorized to finance, fund, plan, establish, 
acquire, construct or reconstruct, enlarge and extend, equip, operate, and maintain systems, 
facilities, and infrastructure in conjunction with the development of lands within the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer is developing the commercial development within the boundary 
of the District known as “Downtown Wellen Park” (the “Development”) at its sole cost and 
expense;1 and 

 
WHEREAS, upon the conclusion of the construction of the Development, the Developer 

will continue to own, operate, and maintain the private improvements, facilities, and property 
located therein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District presently owns certain real property within the Development 
identified as i) Tracts 7, 11 and 300 as shown on that certain Wellen Park Downtown Phase 1 plat, 
recorded at Plat Book 54, Page 331 in the Official Records of Sarasota County, Florida, and ii) 
Tract A-1 as shown on that certain West Villages Marketplace plat, recorded at Plat Book 53, Page 
140 in the Official Records of Sarasota County, Florida (collectively, the “Real Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District presently owns or plans to own various public improvements, 
facilities, and property located on the Real Property (the “Improvements,” and together with the 
Real Property, the “District Property”), as more particularly described on the attached Exhibit A 
which is incorporated herein by this reference; and 
 

 
1 For the avoidance of doubt, the parties acknowledge and agree that no District funds, including existing or future 
bond proceeds, were utilized for the construction of the public or private infrastructure within the Development. 

Page 29



2 
4891-9289-9905.1  

WHEREAS, the District Property requires management, inspection, operation, and/or 
maintenance services for which the District desires to retain an independent contractor; and 

 
 WHEREAS, for ease of administration, potential cost savings to property owners and 
residents, and the benefits of on-site inspection, operation and maintenance personnel, the District 
desires to contract with the Developer to manage, operate, and maintain the District Property; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the parties, the parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference 
are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2. ACCESS TO PROPERTY.  By execution of this Agreement, and for the term 
hereof, the Developer is entitled to access the District Property described in Exhibit A for the 
purpose of providing the management, operation, and maintenance services relative to the District 
Improvements and the District Property located thereon.    
 

SECTION 3. DEVELOPER’S OBLIGATION.  
 

A. General duties.  The Developer shall be responsible for providing, or causing to be 
provided, the management, operation, and maintenance of the District Property, 
including providing for the appropriate property insurance therefore, at its own cost 
and expense.  The services shall be provided by the Developer in a lawful, neat and 
professional manner in accordance with industry standards, and in compliance with 
the “Scope of Maintenance Services” attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated 
herein by this reference.  The Developer shall utilize qualified and experienced 
employees or contractors to provide the services with such frequency as is 
necessary and reasonable under the circumstances in order to ensure that the 
District Property is properly maintained and functions in accordance with its 
intended purpose. 
 

B. Inspection.  The Developer shall conduct regular inspections of all District 
Property.  In the event the Developer discovers any irregularities or needs of repair 
to the District Property, the Developer shall report same to the Operations Manager 
and shall promptly correct, or cause to be corrected, any such irregularities or 
repairs. 

 
C. Routine Repair and Maintenance.  The Developer shall make, or cause to be made, 

such routine repair work or normal maintenance to the District Property as may be 
required for the operation of the District Property, or as required under applicable 
government permits.   

 

Page 30



3 
4891-9289-9905.1  

D. Emergency Repairs and Maintenance.  The Developer shall immediately notify the 
Operations Manager or District Engineer, as applicable, concerning the need for 
emergency repairs. 

 
i. The Developer, in consultation with the Operations Manager and/or District 

Engineer, as applicable, shall promptly cause emergency repairs to be made 
when such repairs are necessary for the preservation and safety of persons 
and/or property, or when the repairs are required to be made to avoid the 
suspension of any service of the District.   
 

ii. Alternatively, if emergency repairs are warranted as determined by the 
District in its sole and absolute discretion, the District reserves the right to 
coordinate such repairs at its own cost and expense.  Emergency repairs may 
be made by the District without prior notice to the Developer; provided, 
however, that the Operations Manager shall use his best efforts to 
communicate the District’s intent and/or completion of emergency repairs 
to the Developer as soon as is practicable.  Upon the conclusion of the 
emergency repairs, the Developer shall thereafter resume the provision of 
the management, operation, and maintenance of the District Property. 

 
E. Investigation and Report of Accidents/Claims. The Developer shall promptly 

investigate and provide a written report to the Operations Manager as to all 
accidents or claims for damage relating to the management, operation, and 
maintenance of the District Property.  Such report shall include a description of any 
damage or destruction of property and the estimated cost of repair. The Developer 
shall cooperate and make any and all reports required by any insurance company in 
connection with any accident or claim. The Developer shall not file any claims with 
the District’s insurance company without the prior consent of the District’s Board 
of Supervisors, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

 
F. Compliance with Government Permits, Rules, Regulations, Requirements, and 

Orders.  The Developer shall comply with any and all permits, rules, regulations, 
requirements, and orders affecting the District Property placed thereon by any 
governmental authority having jurisdiction.  At the request of the District, and with 
at least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Developer unless an earlier time 
for response by the District is required by any such governmental authority having 
jurisdiction over the District and in any such event the Developer shall respond 
within a timeframe such as to allow the District to timely respond to the 
governmental authority, the Developer shall prepare for execution and filing by the 
District any forms, reports or returns which may be required by law in connection 
with the Developer’s management, operation, and maintenance of the District 
Property. The Developer shall notify the Operations Manager, the District 
Engineer, and District Counsel in writing of any contact made with the Developer 
relative to the District Property by any such governmental authority having 
jurisdiction.  The Developer shall specifically indemnify the District for any 
penalties, judgments, or orders levied or imposed against the District for failure to 

Page 31



4 
4891-9289-9905.1  

comply with any governmental permits, rules, regulations, requirements, and orders 
during the term of this Agreement that are due to Developer’s failure to respond. 

 
G. Care of the Property.  The Developer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 

protect the District Property from damage by the Developer, its employees or 
contractors.  The Developer agrees to promptly repair any damage to the District 
Property resulting from the Developer’s activities and work and to notify the 
District of the occurrence of such damage caused by the Developer’s activities 
within forty-eight (48) hours. 

 
H. Staffing and Billing.  The Developer shall be solely responsible for the i) staffing, 

budgeting, financing, and ii) billing and collection of fees, assessments, service 
charges, etc., if applicable, that are necessary to perform the management, 
operation, and maintenance responsibilities set forth in this Agreement.   

 
I. Utilities.  The Developer shall be solely responsible for the provision of payment 

of all utilities, including but not limited to electricity, water (irrigation water main 
or individual potable water services, as may be appropriate), sewer, telephone, trash 
collection, and trash disposal as necessary for the proper management, operation, 
and maintenance of the District Property. 

 
J. Liens and Claims.  The Developer shall promptly and properly pay for all 

contractors retained, labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by 
it to perform under this Agreement.  The Developer shall promptly discharge or 
cause to be discharged any materialmen’s or mechanic’s liens and claims or notices 
in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason of the Developer’s 
performance under this Agreement. 

 
K. Reports.  The Developer agrees to meet with the Operations Manager and other 

District representatives, as needed and requested by the District, to walk the 
property to discuss conditions, schedules, and items of concern regarding the 
management, operation, and maintenance of the District Property. 

 
L. Permits and Licenses.  All permits and licenses required by any governmental 

agency directly for the District shall be obtained and paid for by the District.  All 
other permits or licenses necessary for the Developer to perform under this 
Agreement shall be obtained and paid for by the Developer. 

   
 SECTION 4. TERM; TERMINATION.   
 

A. The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the effective date of this 
Agreement and shall continue for twenty (20) years, unless terminated by the 
written consent of both parties hereto. Upon the expiration of the initial term, the 
parties shall be entitled to renew this Agreement for additional five (5) year terms. 

 

Page 32



5 
4891-9289-9905.1  

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement at any time due to Developer’s failure to perform in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement upon thirty (30) days’ written notice (“Notice Period”) 
detailing such alleged failure of the Developer; provided, however, the Developer 
shall have the right to cure any such alleged default or failure to perform on or 
before the expiration of such Notice Period.  If the default is not reasonably curable 
within said Notice Period, the Developer may request and obtain an extension of 
the Notice Period upon a good faith showing that it has and is currently attempting 
to diligently cure such default, which extension shall not be unreasonably withheld 
by the District.  In the event the Developer cures such alleged default or failure to 
perform during the Notice Period, this Agreement shall not be deemed terminated 
and shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
C. In the event of any termination, the Developer and the District shall use 

commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with one another to provide a smooth 
and orderly transition of responsibilities between the parties. 

 
 SECTION 5. INSURANCE.   
 

A. The Developer shall maintain or cause to be maintained, at its own expense 
throughout the term of this Agreement, the following insurance: 

 
i. Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida. 
ii. Commercial General Liability Insurance covering legal liability, with limits 

of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage liability. 

iii. Automobile Liability Insurance in limits of not less than $1,000,000 
combined single limit  bodily injury and for property damage, providing 
coverage for any accident arising out of or resulting from the operation, 
maintenance, or use of any owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, 
trailers, or other equipment required to be licensed. 

 
B. The District, and their respective staff, consultants, agents and supervisors, shall be 

named as additional insureds on each of the above policies (except with respect to 
the Worker’s Compensation Insurance policy).  No certificate shall be acceptable 
to the District unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy 
periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty 
(30) days of prior written notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from 
a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida, 
and such carrier shall have a Best’s Insurance Reports rating of at least A-VII.  If 
the Developer or its contractors fails to have secured and maintained the required 
insurance, the District has the right (without any obligation to do so, however) to 
secure such required insurance in which event, the Developer shall pay the cost for 
that required insurance and shall furnish, upon demand, all information that may be 
required in connection with the District’s obtaining the required insurance.   

Page 33



6 
4891-9289-9905.1  

 
C. The Developer shall ensure that any contractors hired by it to conduct the 

management, operation, and maintenance activities set forth herein shall 
additionally maintain, at their own expense through the term of the provision of 
such services relative to the District Improvements, the insurance coverages set 
forth in Sections 5(A) and 5(B) herein.  Further, any contractors providing 
pesticide, herbicide, or other chemical applications relative to the District Property 
shall additionally  be required to maintain the following insurance: 

 
i. Pollution liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000. 

 
 SECTION 6.   

 
A. The Developer agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and its 

officers, agents, employees and staff from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits 
or demands by any person, corporation or other entity for injuries, death, property 
damage or harm of any nature, arising out of, or in connection with, the acts or 
omissions of the Developer, or its officers, employees, representatives, contractors 
or subcontractors, including litigation or any appellate proceedings with respect 
thereto, resulting from the Developer’s management, operation, and maintenance 
activities, or lack thereof, relative to the District Property as contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

 
B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, 

judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, 
court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorney fees, 
paralegal fees, and expert witness fees and costs (incurred in court, out of court, on 
appeal, or in bankruptcy proceedings) as ordered. 
 

C. The Developer shall require that, by written contract, any contractor hired in 
connection with this Agreement indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District 
and its officers, agents and employees from any and all liability, claims, actions, 
suits or demands by any person, corporation or other entity for injuries, death, 
property damage or harm of any nature, arising out of, or in connection with, the 
acts or omissions of such contractors, including litigation or any appellate 
proceedings with respect thereto, resulting from the contractor’s management, 
operation, and maintenance activities, or lack thereof, relative to the District 
Property.  For the avoidance of doubt, failure to obtain such written contract with 
any contractor, as applicable, shall be considered a breach of this Agreement. 
 

 SECTION 7. RECOVERY OF COSTS AND FEES.  In the event either the District or the 
Developer are required to enforce this Agreement or any provision hereof by court proceedings or 
otherwise, the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all fees and 
costs incurred, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, paralegal fees and expert 
witness fees and costs incurred prior to or during any litigation or other dispute resolution and 
including fees incurred in appellate proceedings.  

Page 34



7 
4891-9289-9905.1  

 
 SECTION 8. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY. Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond any statutory 
limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by the Florida 
Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of law.  
 
 SECTION 9. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither party may assign this Agreement without the prior 
written approval of the other. 
 
 SECTION 10. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  In all matters relating to this 
Agreement, the Developer shall be acting as an independent contractor.  Neither the Developer nor 
employees of the Developer, if there are any, are employees of the District under the meaning or 
application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age Laws or 
otherwise.  The Developer agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any one or 
more of such laws with respect to employees of the Developer, if there are any, in the performance 
of this Agreement. The Developer shall not have any authority to assume or create any obligation, 
express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Developer shall have no authority to represent 
the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 11. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 12. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both the 
District and the Developer. 
 
 SECTION 13. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of the District and the Developer, both the District 
and the Developer have complied with all the requirements of law in order to effectuate the terms 
of this Agreement, and both the District and the Developer have full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 SECTION 14. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by First Class Mail, 
postage prepaid, or overnight delivery service, to the parties, as follows: 
      

A. If to the District:  West Villages Improvement District 
      2501-A Burns Road 

Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
      Attn:  District Manager 

    

Page 35



8 
4891-9289-9905.1  

   With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 
       107 West College Avenue 

Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
Attn: District Counsel 

 
  B. If to the Developer:  Wellen Park, LLLP 

4901 Vineland Road, Suite 450 
Orlando, Florida 32811 
Attn:  Richard Severance 
Attn: Leslie Candes 

 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place 
of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days.  
Counsel for the District and counsel for the Developer may deliver Notice on behalf of the District 
and the Developer.  Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify 
the other parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent 
by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 SECTION 15. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the District and the Developer and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or 
for the benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the District and the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this 
Agreement or any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, 
representations, covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the District and the Developer and their respective 
representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 
 SECTION 16. CONTROLLING LAW; VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 
of the State of Florida.  Venue shall be in Sarasota County, Florida. 
 
 SECTION 17. PUBLIC RECORDS.  Developer understands and agrees that all documents 
of any kind provided to the District in connection with this Agreement may be public records and 
shall be treated as such in accordance with Florida law.  
 
 SECTION 18. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
 
 SECTION 19. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the District and the Developer as an arm’s length transaction.  The District and the 

Page 36



9 
4891-9289-9905.1  

Developer participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their 
respective counsel.  In the case of a dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this 
Agreement, the parties are each deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and 
any doubtful language will not be interpreted or construed against any party. 

 
 SECTION 20. FINAL AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the District and the Developer relating to the subject matter 
of this Agreement.   

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties execute this Agreement the day and year first written 

above. 
 
Attest:      WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
 
 
____________________________  _______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   John Luczynski 
      Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
       
 
 
 
      WELLEN PARK, LLLP 
 

By: THOMAS RANCH LAND PARTNERS GP, 
LLC, its General Partner 
 
By: THOMAS RANCH MANAGER, LLC, its 
Manager  
 

_____________________________  _______________________________ 
(Signature of Witness)   By:  ___________________________ 
      Title:  __________________________  
       
 
 
Exhibit A: Description of the District Property 
Exhibit B: Scope of Services 

 

Page 37



4891-9289-9905.1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE DISTRICT PROPERTY 
 
 

 Wellen Park Boulevard, Market Way, Springtide Way and Sunglow Boulevard,2 including but not 
limited to asphalt, curb and gutter, inlets, drainage pipes, and associated signage, sidewalks, and 
streetlights; 

 
 Stormwater management ponds and associated stormwater management/drainage improvements; 

 
 Landscaping improvements; 

 
 Hardscaping improvements; 

 
 All irrigation improvements located on the tracts listed above, with the exception of the irrigation 

pumps/pump station, the management, operation, and maintenance of which shall remain the 
responsibility of the District; and 
 

 Multi-modal walking trail improvements located on the tracts listed above. 
 
 

 
2 Excluding the portion of Sunglow Boulevard that is located outside of the Development (i.e. from Radiant Way west 
to Preto Boulevard). 

Page 38



4891-9289-9905.1  

EXHIBIT B 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
General Events Management 

 The Developer shall solely provide for the management of events held on the District Property in 
accordance with any applicable City of North Port regulations relating to same, but which shall not 
be subject to the District’s standard application, permitting, or approval processes. 
 

Roadways and Streetlights 
 

 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair and/or replacement of asphalt, curb and 
gutter, inlets, inlets, drainage pipes, and associated signage and sidewalks relative to the subject 
roadways (the “Roadways”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall be responsible for 
the future resurfacing of the Roadways, which shall be done at intervals as determined by the 
District in its sole discretion, and shall be responsible for budgeting any amounts necessary for such 
resurfacing activities. 

 The Developer shall provide for the management of the Roadways, including closures thereto for 
maintenance, events, etc., in accordance with any applicable City of North Port regulations relating 
to same, but which shall not be subject to the District’s standard application, permitting, or approval 
processes. 

 The Developer shall ensure that streetlights along the Roadways are inspected at least two (2) times 
per month in order to ensure that such lighting system are functional, and for the maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement of all components of such streetlights, including but not limited to bulbs, 
poles, ballasts, wiring, controls, and electrical equipment.   

 The Developer shall be responsible for the cost of all monthly streetlight pole lease payments. 
 
 
Stormwater Management Ponds and Improvements 

 
 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of the stormwater 

management ponds, including but not limited to ponds, drainage ditches, marches, and dry sumps 
(collectively, the “Ponds”) and associated drainage improvements, including but not limited to 
drainage pipes, culverts and other improvements. 

 The Developer shall conduct bi-weekly inspections and perform all necessary herbicidal and 
manual maintenance activities relative to the Ponds in order to accomplish control of target 
exotic/invasive or undesirable plant material (including but not limited to torpedo grass, cattails, 
alligator weed, hydrilla, and algae) (hereinafter, “Nuisance Weeds”) in accordance with local, state, 
and federal law.  Maintenance activities shall be conducted as necessary to maintain a minimum of 
ninety-five (95%) percent control of all Nuisance Weeds; provided that for any Pond in which the 
Nuisance Weeds exceeds fifteen (15%) percent of any one-hundred (100) square foot section or is 
greater than 2.5 feet tall, the Developer shall manually remove such material. 

 The Developer shall conduct monthly inspections and perform necessary maintenance activities on 
the planted littoral shelves within the Ponds.  Regularly-scheduled littoral zone maintenance 
activities shall be conducted at bi-monthly intervals (i.e. six (6) times per year) to enhance growth 
of the beneficial native species and to preclude growth of Nuisance Weeds. 

 The Developer shall select the most effective and environmentally safe herbicides and application 
techniques and shall ensure that such work is conducted in a manner so as to protect and minimize 
any damage to non-target areas.  The Developer shall ensure herbicides are utilized in accordance 
with applicable local, state, and federal law as well as in accordance with the product 

Page 39



4891-9289-9905.1  

manufacturers’ label.  In the event that a particular herbicide is banned by a governmental 
regulatory agency with jurisdiction over the Ponds, the Developer shall immediately stop the use 
of such herbicide.  In order to ensure proper application of herbicides, at least one holder of a 
Florida Aquatic Pesticide License shall be present for every maintenance crew utilizing pesticides 
in the Ponds. Further, all herbicide application equipment (i.e. trucks, boats and sprayers) shall be 
kept in good working order, condition, and appearance at all times, and the District shall have the 
right to inspect such equipment and to approve their use.  The Developer shall be solely liable for 
any penalty, fine or damages resulting from the misuse or improper appliable of herbicides. 

 For any Pond in which dead plant material exceeds fifteen (15%) percent of any one-hundred (100) 
square foot section, the Developer shall remove and properly dispose of the dead material.  
Vegetation removed from the Ponds shall be removed from the Development within two (2) days 
and shall not remain on-site over the weekend.  If the District determines that such plant material 
has died due to Developer’s improper use of herbicides, Developer shall be responsible for 
replanting such areas at its own cost and expense. 

 Prior to launching any boat or trailer into the Ponds, such vessel shall be inspected for the presence 
of Nuisance Weeds which shall be removed prior to launch in order to ensure that such plants are 
not introduced into the Ponds. 

 The Developer shall notify the Operations Manager of any fish kills in the Ponds.  The Developer 
shall be liable for fish kills that are a direct result of aquatic plant control activities. 

 
 
 
Landscaping, Hardscaping, and Irrigation Improvements 
 
General  
 

 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of landscaping 
improvements (including but not limited to sod, trees, shrubs, groundcover and annuals), which 
shall include pruning, fertilization, grounds maintenance, mowing, trimming edging, raking, weed 
control, mulching, insect control and plant replacement. The Developer shall also install seasonal 
plants (i.e., annuals, seasonal specialties, potted plants, etc.). 

 The Developer shall provide the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of hardscaping 
improvements, including monument signage and sidewalks/walkways. 

 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of irrigation 
improvements. Further, the Developer shall be responsible for the operation of the irrigation 
system, for setting and adjusting the irrigation system timing to ensure proper watering, and for 
replacement of any irrigation facilities or equipment damaged by the maintenance operation. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the management, operation, and maintenance of the irrigation 
pumps/pump station shall remain the responsibility of the District. 

 

Fertilizer and Soil Testing 

 The Developer shall establish a program that will fertilize all trees, shrubs, groundcover, flowers 
and lawns, describing the type of fertilizer required for each type of plant and the time of the year 
this work will be undertaken.  A copy of the maintenance and fertilization schedule shall be 
provided to the Operations Manager.  

 Plant Material shall be fertilized in accordance with the following schedule and amounts: 
o For Zoysia turf:  Apply complete fertilizer in February and November at the manufacturer’s 

recommended rate and apply nitrogen only in April and slow release nitrogen in June and 
August.  The fertilizer shall be a commercial grade, produced and recommended for use on 

Page 40



4891-9289-9905.1  

Zoysia lawns having a minimum of 40% slow release nitrogen. The total yearly nitrogen 
shall be 4 lbs N/ 1,000 SF.   

o For St. Augustine turf: Apply complete fertilizer in February, May and October of each 
year.  The fertilizer shall be commercial grade, produced and recommended for use on St. 
Augustine lawns having a minimum of 50% slow release nitrogen. The total yearly 
nitrogen shall be 4 lbs. N/ 1,000 SF.   

o For Bahia turf:  For Bahia turf areas such as lake, pond, and ditch banks, the Developer 
shall apply fertilizer only when directed by the District.  The Developer shall make a 
recommendation to the District regarding the necessity of fertilization in March and 
October of each year.  The Operations Manager shall review the Developer’s 
recommendation and make the final decision regarding the necessity of fertilization.  If 
needed, fertilizer shall be an 8-8-8 fertilizer having at least fifty percent (50%) of the 
nitrogen derived from an organic source and magnesium and iron as minor elements.   

o For trees (except palms):  Trees shall be fertilized by broadcasting under the foliage canopy 
twice yearly: early Spring and early Fall to achieve 2 lbs N/ 1,000 SF per year.  Fertilizer 
shall consist of 30% - 50% slow release nutrients. 

o For palms:  Palms shall be fertilized during April, June and September.  The fertilizer shall 
be broadcast under foliage canopy at the rate of 1 pound per inch of palm trunk diameter. 

o Shrubs and groundcovers: Shrubs and groundcover shall be fertilized by broadcasting over 
beds three (3) times per year.  Note: Fertilize early Spring, Summer and late Fall at a rate 
of 1 lb N/ 1,000 SF. 

o Flowering seasonal plants/annuals:  Flowering seasonal/annual plants shall be fertilized on 
an “as needed” basis with liquid fertilizer.  Soluble salts should be checked on a regular 
basis. 

 The automatic irrigation system shall be operated during fertilization application to avoid burn.  
The Developer shall be responsible for any damage to plant material after fertilization as a result 
of the Developer’s insufficient irrigation operation or scheduling. 

 Any plant material damaged by over-fertilization or by the use of the wrong type of fertilizer shall 
be replaced at the Developer’s expense. 

 The Developer shall have the varied planting mediums (planting soil) tested annually to determine 
required additives.  The Developer shall be responsible for costs of tests along with purchasing and 
application of any and all soil conditioners required. Each “Area” to include a minimum of three 
(3) samples. 

 

Mowing, Edging & Blowing 

 Turf Mowing:  
o Within all turf areas and within the Roadway rights-of-way and adjacent slope easements, 

mow all turf areas with an appropriate mower whenever grass attains a height of 2 to 3 
inches.  The height of the cut shall be set at 2 to 3 inches. Remove excessive grass clippings 
by the use of grass catcher, bagger or by raking where necessary.  Mowing wet grass should 
be avoided. 

o Mow all berms and banks of the Ponds once per month during October through March and 
two times per month during April through September.  The height of the cut shall be set at 
3 inches. Berms and banks of the Ponds shall be mowed to the water line.  Remove 
excessive grass clippings by the use of grass catcher, bagger or by raking where necessary.  
Mowing wet grass should be avoided. 

 Trim and properly edge all shrub and flower beds, as well as trees, curbs, walls, sidewalks, 
pathways and other paved surfaces.  Remove grass clippings.  Trimming and edging shall be 
executed at every mowing. 

Page 41



4891-9289-9905.1  

 Sidewalks, curbs, and other paved surfaces adjacent to turf or other landscaped elements shall be 
kept clean of unwanted landscape debris. 

 Grounds shall be raked and cleaned of clippings, leaves, sticks, twigs, and all litter at each 
maintenance day or as needed.  Materials cleaned from grounds shall be disposed of off-site. 

 

Weed and Insect Control  

 Control weeds in all areas as necessary and in compliance with the State of Florida Department of 
Agriculture and other applicable local regulations.  Weed control shall be performed at the early 
signs of weed growth and shall be repeated as required. Weed control shall continue through the 
maintenance period as required and as may be specified by the Operations Manager. 

 The Developer shall select the most effective and environmentally safe pesticides, herbicides, 
chemicals, and application techniques and shall ensure that such work is conducted in a manner so 
as to protect and minimize any damage to non-target areas.  The Developer shall ensure pesticides, 
herbicides, and chemicals are utilized in accordance with applicable local, state, and federal law as 
well as in accordance with the product manufacturers’ label.  In the event that a particular pesticide, 
herbicide, or chemical is banned by a governmental regulatory agency with jurisdiction over the 
District Property, the Developer shall immediately stop the use of same.  In order to ensure proper 
application of pesticides, herbicides, and chemicals, at least one holder of a Florida Aquatic 
Pesticide License shall be present for every maintenance crew utilizing same. Further, all pesticide, 
herbicide, and chemical application equipment (i.e. trucks, boats and sprayers) shall be kept in good 
working order, condition, and appearance at all times, and the District shall have the right to inspect 
such equipment and to approve their use.  The Developer shall be solely liable for any penalty, fine 
or damages resulting from the misuse or improper appliable of pesticides, herbicides, and 
chemicals. 

 Plant beds shall be weeded by hand.  All weeds and refuse shall be removed from the site the same 
day.   

 Disease control and/or fungus and limited nutritional supplements shall be included as necessary if 
a deficiency exists or soil conditions warrant. 

 To control scale insects, red spiders, aphids and other sucking insects, spray major trees once a year 
in late March and early April with miscible oil spray.  Apply the spray as a fine, even mist.  Spraying 
operations must be scheduled on calm days and so that the areas involved will be clear of 
pedestrians and automobiles. Dormant oil sprays should not be used when the air temperature is 
below 40º F or when it is likely to drop to freezing or below before the spray has dried on the tree. 

 To eradicate infection by chewing or sucking insects, leaf miners, and other pests, spray affected 
trees with special sprays and combinations of sprays suitable for the particular insect when the 
infection becomes evident and as often thereafter as necessary.  Advice from an expert consultant 
in this matter is mandatory.  

 All trees, shrubs and ornamentals shall be sprayed to control insects on an as needed basis with no 
limitations as to the number of sprays.  The Developer shall apply recommended, legally approved 
pesticides to control insects and/or fungus causing damage to plants.  Pesticides shall be applied 
only as needed to maintain the health of plant material. 

 

Pruning and Trimming 

 Prune, thin and trim all trees at least once a year to keep the trees healthy, to maintain the natural 
character of the variety, to control shape, and to prevent crowding.  Pruning, in general, shall consist 
of the removal of dead, broken, fungus-infected, insect-infested, superfluous, and intertwining 
branches, vines and the removal of dead or decaying stumps, all other undesirable growth, and 

Page 42



4891-9289-9905.1  

nuisance growth that interferes with view, traffic signage, walks or lighting. Pruning will also be 
required from time to time to remove damaged branches from storms. 

 Hatracking or Lopping of trees will not be accepted unless directed by the Operations Manager.  
Trees pruned in such a manner without the District’s permission shall be replaced with same 
variety, at size prior to pruning, at the Developer’s expense. 

 Cuts should be made with sharp and proper tools.  When cutting parts of branches, leave a living 
bud at the end of the stub.  Flowering trees shall be pruned over an outside bud.  Make cuts 
sufficiently close to parent stem so that healing can readily start under normal conditions.  Limb 
cuts shall be clean and flush with the trunk. 

 Prune only at the time of season proper for the variety.  For some varieties, timing will be critical 
– a matter of days.  Prune flowering trees after the flowers have fallen. Prune or trim once or twice 
each growing season to keep the natural shape of the individual plant.  Groundcover plants may 
need some cutting back to encourage lateral growth. 

 All plants shall be neatly pruned and/or clipped to maintain the natural character of the plant and 
in a manner appropriate to the requirement of each plant. 

 Mechanical pruning to create a walled effect on hedges or a ‘meatball’ effect on shrubs will not be 
accepted unless directed by the Operations Manager.  Shrubs pruned in such a manner without the 
District’s permission shall be replaced with same variety, at size prior to pruning, at the Developer’s 
expense. 

 All branches, dead wood, and cuttings shall be removed from the job site at time of pruning and 
disposed of in an acceptable manner. All lawn and shrub areas damaged by pruning equipment 
shall be restored. 

 Palms shall be trimmed of dead fronds once every three (3) months. 
 Ornamental Grasses should be cut back at the appropriate time during the spring to encourage new 

growth. 

 

Mulch 

 All plant beds and tree pits shall have a 3 inch layer of mulch maintained.  Every month, mulch 
shall be placed as needed to maintain a consistent, completely covered appearance in all mulch 
areas. 

 Any mulch installed shall be cocoa brown. 

 

Automatic Irrigation System Maintenance and Watering 

 The Developer shall operate, inspect, and conduct periodic inspections and adjustment of the 
automatic irrigation systems in order to ensure proper watering in compliance with the Amended 
and Restated Agreement for the Delivery and use of Irrigation Quality Water, by and between the 
Developer and the District, dated December 16, 2020 (the “Irrigation Agreement”).   The irrigation 
central computer system shall be checked as often as necessary to ensure scheduling.  The 
Developer shall be responsible for becoming knowledgeable of the automatic irrigation system and 
its operation and management.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Developer will not be 
responsible for the replacement or maintenance of the pumping equipment or to replace any defect 
in the pump system which shall remain the responsibility of the District.   

 The Developer shall replace any irrigation equipment damaged by the maintenance operation in a 
timely manner.  Damaged equipment shall be replaced with the same equipment from the same 
manufacturer. The Developer shall be required to promptly notify the Operations Manager if repairs 
are necessary that are not the Developer’s responsibility. 

Page 43



4891-9289-9905.1  

 If not already provided to the District, the Developer shall provide a weekly irrigation schedule to 
the Operations Manager within twenty (20) days of the Effective Date of this Agreement.  The 
Developer’s irrigation schedule shall provide sufficient water to all lawns and shrub beds to provide 
for lush, green landscape appearance.  The schedule shall be adjusted for the appropriate rainy or 
dry season.  

 The Developer shall be responsible for controlling the amount of water used for irrigation and any 
damage that results from over watering or insufficient watering shall be the responsibility of the 
Developer in accordance with the Irrigation Agreement. 

Trash Removal 

 Trash removal including removal of all trash from onsite waste containers to the appropriate 
dumpsters. 

Flowering Seasonal/Annual Replacement 

 The Developer shall be responsible for maintaining all seasonal bedding plants in a healthy growing 
condition, free from symptoms of nutritional deficiency or undesirable appearance. 

 The Developer will replant existing annual beds three (3) times per year with annuals as directed 
by the Operations Manager.  Any additional annual beds or additional replanting will be invoiced 
separately. 

 Watering needs shall be monitored on a daily basis.  Plants should show no signs of water related 
stress. 

 All plants in beds shall be pruned on an “as needed” basis to provide for a dense, full, flowering 
and consistent appearance. 

 All beds shall be kept weed free at all times. 
 Check for insects and possible disease, and follow through with appropriate treatments on a routine 

basis.  

 
Concrete Multi-Modal Walking Trail Improvements  
 

 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of the concrete multi-
modal walking trail improvements (the “Concrete Trail”). 

 The Developer shall properly edge the Concrete Trail at every mowing and shall ensure that the 
paved Concrete Trail width is maintained to its initial width, as approved by the City of North Port.  
The Developer shall remove grass clippings after edging, and the Concrete Trail shall further be 
kept clean of unwanted landscape and other debris. 

 
Natural Multi-Modal Walking Trail Improvements  
 

 The Developer shall provide for the maintenance, repair, and/or replacement of the shell multi-
modal walking trail improvements (the “Natural Trail”). 

 The Developer shall properly edge the Natural Trail as necessary and shall ensure that the Natural 
Trail width is maintained to its initial width, as approved by the City of North Port.  The Developer 
shall remove grass clippings after edging, and the Natural Trail shall further be kept clean of 
unwanted landscape and other debris. 

 The Developer shall replace the shell/aggregate relative to the Natural Trail as necessary to 

Page 44



4891-9289-9905.1  

maintain a uniform appearance and a substantially level surface. 

 

Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



(1)
(2)

(3) (4)

ERU

ERU

 ERU ERU

Page 48



ERU

Florida Statutes F.S.

F.S.

Page 49



ERUs

ERUs

ERUs

ERUs
ERUs

ERU
ERUs

Page 50



Page 51



US-41/S.R. 45/ TAMIAMI TRAIL

SUBJECT
PARCEL

SO
UTH RIVER RO

AD

776

WEST VILLAGES

7 98

Exhibit "A"

Page 52



Exhibit "A"

Page 53



Exhibit "A"

Page 54



Exhibit "A"

Page 55



Exhibit "A"

Page 56



Exhibit "A"

Page 57



Exhibit "A"

Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Unit of Development No. 8 

 

0 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Supplemental Engineer’s Report 
 
 

West Villages  
Improvement District  
Unit of Development No. 8 

Series 2022 Bonds – Neighborhood 

Infrastructure 
 

  
  

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 65



THIS DOCUMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE CONCEPTS AND DESIGNS PRESENTED HEREIN, AS AN INSTRUMENT OF 
SERVICE, IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PURPOSE AND CLIENT FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED. REUSE OF ANY 
IMPROPER RELIANCE ON THE DOCUMENT WITHOUT WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION AND ADAPTIATION BY KIMLEY-HORN 
AND ASSOCIATES, INC., SHALL BE WITHOUT LIABILITY TO KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 
The entirety of this report, including text and images, is the property of Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. and is protected under U.S. 

copyright law. Copyright © 2022, Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 

 

 
 
 

Supplemental Engineer’s Report 
 

FOR 

 
Unit of Development No. 8 

 
 
 

Prepared for:  
 

Lennar Homes, LLC 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 
1777 Main Street, Suite 200 

Sarasota, Florida 34236 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2022 
 
 

Project No.: 048032179

Page 66



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Unit of Development No. 8 

 

 

 
  
GENERAL  

PURPOSE AND SCOPE  

LANDS IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT No. 8 

EXISTING CONDITIONS  

Topography  

Soil and Vegetation  

Land Use and Zoning  

INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS 

Public Infrastructure Improvements 

PERMITTING 

Table 1 

ESTIMATED COST OF IMPROVEMENTS 

Table 2 

MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITY 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION 

LIST OF EXHIBITS  

Aerial Location Map 

Unit 8 Sketch and Legal Description  

   

Page 67



 

1 
 

GENERAL 

The West Villages Improvement District (“WVID”) was created by and operates under Chapter 
2004-458, Laws of Florida as amended (the “Act”) and operates pursuant to the Act and applicable 
provisions of Chapter 298, Florida Statutes and other Florida law.  WVID was created to construct, 
operate, and maintain public works and utilities including water, sewer, drainage, irrigation, water 
management, parks, recreational facilities, roadway, or related activities, as more particularly 
described in Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida.   

PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

The purpose of this Supplement Plan of Improvements is to present the nature and extent of the 
neighborhood improvements which may be implemented by WVID for and on behalf of the Unit 
of Development No. 8 (“Unit No. 8”), which improvements will thereafter be owned, operated 
and/or maintained by either WVID or another legally empowered governmental entity.  This report 
supplements the Unit of Development No. 8 Master Plan of Improvements dated November 12, 
2020. 

The text of this report generally describes the existing land within Unit No. 8 and the proposed 
improvements and recommendations. The report is not intended to be used for exact 
representation or for construction purposes since detailed construction documents for all of the 
proposed improvements have not yet been finalized.   

LANDS IN UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 8 

An Aerial Location Map showing the location of Unit No. 8 is included as Exhibit A.  The legal 
description(s) and sketch(es) are included as Exhibit B and reflect the lands included in Unit No. 
8. These lands total approximately 610.7 acres.   

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Topography 

The area within Unit No. 8 is relatively flat with site elevations ranging from approximately 9 feet 
to 13 feet. The land within the unit is primarily undeveloped pasture and rangelands, upland pine 
flatwood, and wetlands.   

Soil and Vegetation 

Based on the 1991 Soil Survey of Sarasota County, Florida, prepared by the United States 
Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS), the predominant surficial soil 
types within the Unit No. 8 are identified as SCS Soil No. 10, EauGallie and Myakka Fine Sands, 
SCS Soils No. 31, Pineda Fine Sand, SCD Soils No. 36, and Pople Fine Sands. SCS Soil No. 10 
is a nearly level, poorly drained soil that can be made up entirely of EauGallie and similar soils, 
entirely Myakka and similar soils, or a combination of EauGallie, Myakka and other soils. 
Typically, the EauGallie soil has a surface layer of black fine sand with a subsurface layer of gray 
fine sand to a depth of about 22 inches. The surface layer of the Myakka soil is typically dark 
grayish brown fine sand about 6 inches thick while the subsurface layer is light gray fine sand 
about 18 inches thick. Pineda Fine Sand is a nearly level, poorly drained soil. Typically, the 
surface and subsurface layers are grey fine sands totaling approximately 22 inches thick. The 

Page 68



2 
 

subsoil consists of an upper layer of 14 inches of brown fine sand and a lower layer of 12 inches 
of mottled, light brownish gray fine sandy loam. Pople Fine Sand is nearly level, poorly drained 
soil on low hammocks and in poorly defined drainageways and broad sloughs. Typically, the 
surface layer is very dark grayish brown fine sand approximately four (4) inches thick. The 
subsurface layer is light brownish gray fine sand approximately three (3) inches thick. The subsoil 
is brown and brownish yellow fine sand in the upper 21-inches and gray fine sandy loam in the 
lower 28-inches.   

The property within Unit No. 8 currently consists of various vegetative communities comprised of 
both upland and wetland habitats. Several of the vegetation communities have been modified as 
a result of onsite agricultural activities including ditching and fire suppression. Areas that were 
historically extensive open forests or wiregrass prairies have since become heavily forested or 
have been cleared for cattle grazing and commercial nursery. Extensive ditching has also altered 
the hydrology of several of the wetland systems onsite, particularly where the ditches bisect 
wetlands or are adjacent to wetlands.   

Land Use and Zoning 

Unit No. 8 is located within the City of North Port, Florida (“City”) and is within Village J of Wellen 
Park. The land within the boundary of Unit No. 8 is currently being designed and prepared for 
development review and approval with the City, consistent with the Village J Village District 
Pattern Plan (VDPP). The City has already approved portions of the Unit No. 8 lands and it is 
expected they will approve the remaining portions uses, which are consistent with the adopted 
Village J VDPP and Comprehensive Land Use Plan.   

INFRASTRUCTURE PLANS 

Public Infrastructure Improvements 

WVID has formed Unit No. 8 in order to finance infrastructure design and construction and/or 
acquisition required to provide public infrastructure for the Unit (the “Project”) and its ultimate 
property owners.   

The neighborhood improvements for the unit will be consistent with the City of North Port 
Comprehensive Plan and Implementing Ordinances, studies, plans, and may include:   

•  Earthwork;   

•  Stormwater Improvements;   

•  Water and sewer facilities; and 

•  Consulting and contingencies.    

   

 

  

Page 69



3 
 

Permitting 

Required permits already received or ones that will be applied for are summarized in Table 1. It 
is our opinion that there are no technical reasons existing at this time which would prohibit the 
permitting and construction of the planned infrastructure, subject to continued compliance with 
agency criteria and conditions of the already approved plans and permits.    

Permits necessary to complete the Project have either been obtained as described below, or, in 
our opinion, are obtainable from the permitting agencies, subject to reasonable, normal and 
customary permit conditions.   

TABLE 1 
PERMITTING STATUS 

Permit Permit Number Date Approved 
Village J - Mass Grading INF 21-05 4/14/2021 
Village J - Mass Grading ERP 32522.062 4/20/2021 
Village J – Phase 1A INF 21-124 9/23/2021 
Village J – Phase 1A SCP 21-125 9/23/2021 
Village J – Phase 1A ERP 32522.067 7/21/2021 
Village J – Phase 1A FDEP Water 0208589-225-DSGP 11/1/2021 
Village J – Phase 1A FDEP WW CS58-411449 12/8/2022 
Village J – Phase 1B MAS 21-228 1/19/2022 
Village J – Phase 1B ERP 32522.072 8/9/2021 
Village J – Phase 1B FDEP Water 020859-228-DSGP 2/14/2022 
Village J – Phase 1C INF 21-261 3/16/2022 
Village J – Phase 1C SCP 21-262 3/31/2021 
Village J – Phase 1C ERP 32522.074 11/3/2021 
Village J – Phase 1C FDEP Water 020859-232-DSGP 3/18/2022 
Village J – Phase 1C FDEP WW CS58-418053 3/28/2022 
Village J – Phase 1D MAS 21-352 4/26/2022 
Village J – Phase 1D ERP 32522.086 12/27/2021 
Village J – Phase 1D FDEP Water 020859-234-DSGP 4/11/2022 
Village J – Phase 1D FDEP WW CS58-419338 4/27/2022 
Village J – Maintenance Facility MAS 21-373 5/11/2022 
Village J – Maintenance Facility ERP 32522.084 7/08/2022 
Village J – Maintenance Facility FDEP Water 0208589-236-DSGP 8/15/2022 
Village J – Maintenance Facility FDEP WW CS58-425547 9/07/2022 
Village J – Amenity Center MAS 22-071 8/29/2022 
Village J – Amenity Center ERP 32522.090 6/03/2022 
Village J – Amenity Center FDEP Water 0208589-237-DSGP 9/02/2022 
Village J – Amenity Center FDEP WW TBD 10/31/22 

(Expected) 
Village J – Phase 1E ERP 32522.100 9/19/2022 
Village J – Phase 1E – All Permits TBD TBD 
Village J – Phase 2 – All Permits TBD TBD 

Page 70



4 
 

ESTIMATED COSTS OF IMPROVEMENTS 

Table 2 lists the components of the planned improvements for Unit No. 8 (“the Project”) to be 
funded with the proceeds of the series 2022 Bond planned to be issued to fund the cost of the 
construction or acquisition of such infrastructure, together with their estimated costs of design and 
construction. The Table also includes an estimate of administrative, consulting, engineering, legal, 
and other fees, and contingencies associated with the improvements. 

 

TABLE 2 
Estimated Costs of Improvements (2022 Dollars) 

Improvements Estimated Cost 
Earthwork $    2,500,000 
Drainage $    3,300,000 
Water Distribution $    3,000,000 
Sanitary Sewer $    5,400,000 
Subtotal $  14,200,000 
Consultants and Administration $    1,300,000 
Total $  15,500,000 

 

MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES 

Maintenance and operational responsibilities of the Project will include the following: 

1. Maintenance and operation of the potable water and sanitary sewer systems will be the 
responsibility of the City; 

2. Maintenance and operation of the stormwater management system will be the responsibility 
of the WVID; 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

The improvements as outlined are necessary for the functional development of the Project. The 
Project is being designed in accordance with current governmental regulatory requirements. The 
Project will serve its intended function provided the construction is in substantial compliance with 
the design. Items of construction for the Project are based upon current development plans. 

  

Page 71



5 
 

ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATION 

It is our professional opinion that the infrastructure costs provided herein for the WVID 
improvements for the Project are reasonable to complete the construction of the infrastructure 
described herein and that these infrastructure improvements will benefit and add value to the 
WVID. These estimated costs are based upon prices currently being experienced for similar items 
of work in southwest Florida and expected in the future. Actual costs may vary based on final 
engineering, planning, and approvals from regulatory agencies. 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the engineer’s report for the WVID. 

 
Signed: October 17, 2022 
 
WILLIAM E. CONERLY, P.E. #57414 
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. 
1777 Main Street, Suite 200 
Sarasota, Florida 34236 
REGISTRY NO. 35106 
 
 
K:\SAR_Civil\048032179 - IPO 178 Wellen Park Golf\KHA_ADMIN\Reports\Supplemental Engineers Report\DRAFT Unirt 8 Supplemental Engineers 
Report Updated 10-17-2022.Docx 

 
 
 

William E Conerly

Digitally signed by William E Conerly
DN: CN=William E Conerly, 
dnQualifier=A01410C0000017B59F821640001D46A,
O=Florida, C=US
Reason: I attest to the accuracy and integrity of this 
document
Date: 2022.10.17 10:28:43-04'00'

Page 72



 Page 1 

RESOLUTION 2022-31 
 

[UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 8, SERIES 2022 – NEIGHBORHOOD 
INFRASTRUCTURE] 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
SETTING FORTH THE SPECIFIC TERMS OF THE DISTRICT’S SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT REVENUE BONDS (UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 8), 
SERIES 2022 (NEIGHBORHOOD INFRASTRUCTURE); CONFIRMING 
DISTRICT’S PROVISION OF INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS AND 
CONFIRMING AND ADOPTING A SUPPLEMENTAL ENGINEER’S 
REPORT; CONFIRMING AND ADOPTING A SUPPLEMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REPORT; CONFIRMING, ALLOCATING AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COLLECTION OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS 
SECURING SERIES 2022 BONDS; PROVIDING FOR THE SUPPLEMENT 
TO THE IMPROVEMENT LIEN BOOK; PROVIDING FOR THE 
RECORDING OF A NOTICE OF SERIES 2022 SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE  

 
 WHEREAS, the West Villages Improvement District (“District”) has previously 
indicated its intention to undertake, install, establish, construct or acquire certain public 
infrastructure improvements within Unit of Development No. 8 within the District (“Unit No. 8”) 
and to finance such improvements through the imposition of special assessments on benefitted 
property within Unit No. 8 and the issuance of bonds; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) has previously adopted, after 
notice and public hearing, Resolution 2020-15, relating to the imposition, levy, collection and 
enforcement of such special assessments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to and consistent with the terms of Resolution 2020-15, this 
Resolution shall set forth the terms of bonds actually issued by the District, and apply the 
adopted special assessment methodology to the actual scope of the project to be completed with 
a series of bonds and the terms of the bond issue; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on __________, 2022, the District entered into a Bond Purchase Contract 
whereby it agreed to sell its $__________ Special Assessment Revenue Bonds (Unit of 
Development No. 8), Series 2022 (Neighborhood Infrastructure) (the “Series 2022 Bonds”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to and consistent with Resolution 2020-15, the District desires to 
set forth the particular terms of the sale of the Series 2022 Bonds and confirm the lien of the 
special assessments securing the Series 2022 Bonds (the “Series 2022 Assessments”). 
 

Page 73



 Page 2 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 SECTION 1.  AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION.  This Resolution is adopted 
pursuant to the provisions of Florida law, including Chapters 170 and 197, Florida Statutes, 
Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as amended, and Resolution 2020-15. 
 
 SECTION 2.  FINDINGS.  The Board of Supervisors of the West Villages 
Improvement District hereby finds and determines as follows: 
 
 (a) On December 17, 2020, the District, after due notice and public hearing, adopted 
Resolution 2020-15, which, among other things, equalized, approved, confirmed and levied 
special assessments on property within Unit No. 8 benefitting from the infrastructure 
improvements authorized by the District.  That Resolution provided that as each series of bonds 
was issued to fund all or any portion of the District’s infrastructure improvements within Unit 
No. 8, a supplemental resolution would be adopted to set forth the specific terms of the bonds 
and certifying the amount of the lien of the special assessments securing any portion of the 
bonds, including interest, costs of issuance, and the number of payments due, the True-Up 
amounts and the application of receipt of True-Up proceeds. 
 
 (b) The final Unit of Development No. 8 Supplemental Engineer’s Report (Series 2022 
Bonds – Neighborhood Infrastructure), dated November 2022, attached to this Resolution as 
Exhibit A (the “Engineer’s Report”), identifies and describes the presently expected components 
of the improvements to be financed with the Series 2022 Bonds (the “Series 2022 
Improvements”).  The District hereby confirms that the Series 2022 Improvements serve a 
proper, essential and valid public purpose.  The Engineer’s Report is hereby confirmed.  The 
District ratifies its use in connection with the sale of the Series 2022 Bonds.  
 
 (c) The final Second Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report (Series 2022 
Bonds), dated December ___, 2022, attached to this Resolution as Exhibit B (the “Supplemental 
Assessment Report”), applies the adopted Master Special Assessment Methodology Report, Unit 
of Development No. 8, dated November 12, 2020, (the “Master Assessment Report”) to the 
Series 2022 Improvements and the actual terms of the Series 2022 Bonds.  The Supplemental 
Assessment Report is hereby approved, adopted and confirmed.  The District ratifies its use in 
connection with the sale of the Series 2022 Bonds.  
 
 (d) The Series 2022 Improvements will specially benefit all of the developable acreage 
within Unit No. 8, as set forth in the Supplemental Assessment Report.  It is reasonable, proper, 
just and right to assess the portion of the costs of the Series 2022 Improvements financed with 
the Series 2022 Bonds to such specially benefited properties within the District as set forth in 
Resolution 2020-15 and this Resolution.   
 
 SECTION 3.  CONFIRMATION OF MAXIMUM ASSESSMENT LIEN FOR 
SERIES 2022 BONDS.  As provided in Resolution 2020-15, this Resolution is intended to set 

Page 74



 Page 3 

forth the terms of the Series 2022 Bonds and the final amount of the lien of the special 
assessments securing those bonds. 
 
 The Series 2022 Bonds, in a par amount of $_______________ shall bear such rates of 
interest and maturity as shown on Exhibit C attached hereto.  The final payment on the Series 
2022 Bonds shall be due on ________, ________.  The sources and uses of funds of the Series 
2022 Bonds shall be as set forth in Exhibit D.  The debt service due on the Series 2022 Bonds is 
set forth on Exhibit E attached hereto.  The lien of the special assessments securing the Series 
2022 Bonds on all developable land within Unit No. 8 shall be the principal amount due on the 
Series 2022 Bonds, together with accrued but unpaid interest thereon, and together with the 
amount by which annual assessments are grossed up to include early payment discounts required 
by law and costs of collection. 
 
 SECTION 4.  ALLOCATION OF ASSESSMENTS SECURING SERIES 2022 
BONDS.  
 
 (a)  The special assessments for the Series 2022 Bonds shall be allocated in accordance 
with Exhibit B which allocation shall initially be distributed on 135 platted single family lots 
consisting of eighty-two (82) 55’ lots and fifty-three (53) 75’ lots.  The remaining debt will be 
allocated on an equal acreage basis on all of the remaining benefited acreage, approximately 
582.52+/- acres, and will be further allocated as lands are platted.  The Supplemental Assessment 
Report is consistent with the District’s Master Assessment Methodology.  The Supplemental 
Assessment Report, considered herein, reflects the actual terms of the issuance of the District’s 
Series 2022 Bonds.  The estimated costs of collection of the special assessments for the Series 
2022 Bonds are as set forth in the Supplemental Assessment Report.  
 
 (b)  The lien of the special assessments securing the Series 2022 Bonds includes all 
developable land within Unit No. 8 with the exception of the golf course property, and as such 
land is ultimately defined and set forth in plats or other designations of developable acreage.  To 
the extent land is added to Unit No. 8, the District may, by supplemental resolution, determine 
such land to be benefited by the Series 2022 Improvements and reallocate the special 
assessments securing the Series 2022 Bonds and impose special assessments on the newly added 
and benefited property. 
 
 (c)  Taking into account capitalized interest and earnings on certain funds and accounts as 
set forth in the Master Trust Indenture and Second Supplemental Trust Indenture, the District 
shall begin annual collection of special assessments for the Series 2022 Bonds debt service 
payments using the methods available to it by law.  Debt service payments and semi-annual 
installments of interest are reflected on Exhibit E.   
 
 (d)  The District hereby certifies the special assessments for collection and directs staff to 
take all actions necessary to meet the time and other deadlines imposed by Sarasota County for 
collection and other Florida law.  The District intends, to the extent possible and subject to 
entering into the appropriate agreements with the Sarasota County Tax Collector and Sarasota 
County Property Appraiser, to collect the Series 2022 Assessments on platted lands using the 

Page 75



 Page 4 

Uniform Method in Chapter 197, Florida Statutes.  The District intends, to the extent possible, to 
directly bill, collect and enforce the Series 2022 Assessments on unplatted lands.  The District 
Manager shall prepare or cause to be prepared each year a tax roll for purposes of effecting the 
collection of the special assessments and present same to the District Board as required by law.  
The District Manager is further directed and authorized to take all actions necessary to collect 
any prepayments of debt as and when due and to collect special assessments on unplatted 
property using methods available to the District authorized by Florida law.  
 
 SECTION 5.  APPLICATION OF TRUE-UP PAYMENTS.  Pursuant to Resolution 
2020-15, there may be required from time to time certain True-Up payments.  As lands are 
platted or approved within Unit No. 8, the special assessments securing the Series 2022 Bonds 
shall be allocated to the platted lands and the unplatted lands as set forth in Resolution 2020-15, 
this Resolution, and the Supplemental Assessment Report, including, without limitation, the 
application of the True-Up process set forth in Section 8 of Resolution 2020-15.  Based on the 
final par amount of $___________ in Series 2022 Bonds, the True-Up calculations will be made 
in accordance with the process set forth in the Supplemental Assessment Report.  The District 
shall apply all True-Up payments related to the Series 2022 Bonds only to the credit of the Series 
2022 Bonds.  All True-Up payments, as well as all other prepayments of assessments, shall be 
deposited into the accounts specified in the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 
December 1, 2022, governing the Series 2022 Bonds. 
 
 SECTION 6.  IMPROVEMENT LIEN BOOK.  Immediately following the adoption 
of this Resolution these special assessments as reflected herein shall be recorded by the Secretary 
of the Board of the District in the District’s Improvement Lien Book.  The special assessment or 
assessments against each respective parcel shall be and shall remain a legal, valid and binding 
first lien on such parcel until paid and such lien shall be coequal with the lien of all state, county, 
district, municipal or other governmental taxes and superior in dignity to all other liens, titles, 
and claims. 
 

SECTION 7. OTHER PROVISIONS REMAIN IN EFFECT.  This Resolution is 
intended to supplement Resolution 2020-15, which remains in full force and effect. This 
Resolution and Resolution 2020-15 shall be construed to the maximum extent possible to give 
full force and effect to the provisions of each resolution.  All District resolutions or parts thereof 
in actual conflict with this Resolution are, to the extent of such conflict, superseded and repealed. 

 
 SECTION 8.  ASSESSMENT NOTICE. The District’s Secretary is hereby directed to 
record a Notice of Unit of Development No. 8 Series 2022 Special Assessments (Neighborhood 
Infrastructure) securing the Series Bonds in the Official Records of Sarasota County, Florida, or 
such other instrument evidencing the actions taken by the District. 
 
 SECTION 9.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section or part of a section of this resolution be 
declared invalid or unconstitutional, the validity, force and effect of any other section or part of a 
section of this resolution shall not thereby be affected or impaired unless it clearly appears that 
such other section or part of a section of this resolution is wholly or necessarily dependent upon 
the section or part of a section so held to be invalid or unconstitutional. 

Page 76



 Page 5 

 
 SECTION 10.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its 
adoption. 

 
APPROVED and ADOPTED this 15th day of December 2022. 

 
 
ATTEST:     WEST VILLAGES  

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
______________________________ ________________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Exhibit A:   Final Unit of Development No. 8 Supplemental Engineer’s Report (Series 2022 

Bonds – Neighborhood Infrastructure), dated November 2022 
Exhibit B:   Final Second Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report (Series 2022 

Bonds), dated December ___, 2022 
Exhibit C:   Maturities and Coupon of Series 2022 Bonds 
Exhibit D:   Sources and Uses of Funds for Series 2022 Bonds 
Exhibit E:   Annual Debt Service Payment Due on Series 2022 Bonds 

Page 77



 

Exhibit A 
Engineers Report 

 
 
 

Page 78



 

Exhibit B 
Supplemental Assessment Methodology Report 

 

Page 79



 

Exhibit C 
Maturities and Coupon of Series 2022 Bonds 

 
 
 

Page 80



 

Exhibit D 
Sources and Uses of Funds for Series 2022 Bonds 

 

 
 

 

Page 81



 

Exhibit E 
Annual Debt Service Payment Due on Series 2022 Bonds 

 
 
 

Page 82


	West Villages Improvement District - December 15, 2022 Special Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	November 10, 2022 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes
	Unit of Development 1
	Consider Ratification of GMC FEMA Consulting Services Agreement
	Consider Approval of Agreement between the District and Wellen Park, LLLP for Infrastructure Management, Operation, and Maintenance 


	Unit of Development 8
	Consider Approval of Second Supplemental Special Assessment Methodology Report
	Consider Approval of Supplemental Engineer’s Report
	Consider Resolution 2022-31 – Adopting Supplemental Assessment Resolution





